

**TITLE 590. OKLAHOMA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
CHAPTER 10. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM**

SUBCHAPTER 3. CREDITED SERVICE

590:10-3-8. Actuarial cost for purchases; delinquent service cost

(a) **Actuarial Costs.** Effective January 1, 1991, all purchases of service credit, including incentive credit pursuant to 74 O.S. §913.5, or employer error costs pursuant to 74 O.S. §917(7), shall be based upon the actuarial cost of the incremental projected benefits to be purchased.

(1) The actuarial cost and any tables formulated for the purpose of determining such cost, shall be based on the actuarial assumptions utilized in the actuarial valuation report for the Fiscal Year ending June 30 of the prior year.

(2) The actuarial value shall be based upon the member's age, salary, and contribution level at the time of purchase, together with the earliest age for retirement with maximum benefits and actuarially assumed salary at the time of retirement. If purchase is not made by the due date on the billing statement, the purchase must be recalculated and the actuarial cost may increase.

(3) For purposes of determining this actuarial cost, the member's exact age in months shall be ~~rounded up or down to the nearest birthday~~ used in the calculation.

(4) For purposes of determining this actuarial cost, the mortality tables shall be formulated as a unisex table assuming a 50% male and a 50% female population, based upon the actuarial assumptions in paragraph (1) of this section.

(5) In the event a member who chooses to purchase service has been employed less than twelve (12) months, his salary shall be averaged based upon the most current month's payroll information.

(6) In the event that the actuarial cost is less than the contributions that would have been required by law, the member and/or the employer shall pay the actual contributions cost.

(b) **Delinquent service costs.** The cost for purchases of delinquent service credit for service of one (1) month or less which is based on employer error and which is one (1) or more years past due shall be calculated at employer and employee contributions plus ten percent (10%) simple interest per annum. If delinquent service of one (1) year or less is identified and paid for within one (1) year from the beginning service date, the cost will be calculated at employer and employee contributions only. The cost for delinquent service credit for service of more than one (1) month and which is over one (1) year past due shall be calculated at actuarial cost. The cost for any delinquent service credit for a retiree returning to work shall be calculated at employer and employee contributions plus ten percent (10%) simple interest per annum.

(c) **Remittance errors.** In the event a participating employer timely remits contributions for an individual member which are determined to be insufficient as a result of being based on an incorrect contribution rate or incorrectly-reported compensation, the employer shall be notified and pay the amount of the insufficiency plus ten percent (10%) simple interest per annum. The provisions of this paragraph shall not be applicable to employer remittances not received in a timely manner and which are subject to the provisions of paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section and 74 O.S. §920B.

590:10-3-9. Purchase price payments

(a) An active member of the System may elect the payment of the actuarial purchase price, repayment of a previous withdrawal, purchase of previous non-participating elected service, or to purchase an increase in the contribution rate, or any other purchase or repayment permitted and authorized by the statutes governing the System, to be amortized in monthly installments to the extent allowed by law.

(1) A payment schedule may be established allowing the member to make monthly payments through payroll deductions by the member's employer if the employer agrees to make the deductions and remit payments to the System. Payments remitted by an employer for its employees must be kept separate from employer's regular retirement contributions or any other payments to the System including Deferred Compensation. Such payments do not qualify as "pre-tax" contributions under "employer pick-up" provisions of Section 414(h) of the Internal Revenue Code.

(2) The installment payment schedule provided for in this section must be in monthly increments. The minimum total monthly payment is \$25.00. The member shall be responsible for maintaining the payment schedule. The payment due date will be based on the payroll schedule set by the member's employer. An installment not paid within sixty (60) days of the due date will result in termination of the installment payment schedule with the member given the option of paying the balance of the actuarial cost or receiving partial credit for payments made under the installment schedule as provided for in subsection (4) of this section.

(3) The monthly payment will be determined by amortizing the total amount due for the service to be purchased over the period of the installment schedule using an interest rate equal to the actuarially assumed interest rate adopted by the Board of Trustees for investment earnings for the year in which the payment schedule is commenced.

(4) Except as provided in subsection (8) of this section, if the installment payment is terminated for any reason, including termination of employment, death of the member or by cessation of payments, the member or the beneficiary of the member will have the option of paying the remaining balance within six (6) months. If the balance is not paid, the member will receive credit for service prorated for only the principal amount paid and rounded to the last full month paid for. No refunds will be paid to the member.

(5) Credit for service purchased on an installment schedule will not be added to the member's account until the entire balance is paid, except as provided for in subsection (4) of this section. All payments must be completed in the month prior to the effective retirement date of the member. If any member or beneficiary elects to pay the balance during the 6 month period provided for in Subsection (4) of this Section, no benefits will be payable until the completion of said 6 month period, or receipt of a signed waiver. In no event will retroactive benefit payments be made, and the effective retirement date will be adjusted to the first day of the month following the completion of payments or receipt of waiver.

(6) Payments may be made directly to the System by the member or beneficiary if the member is in an unpaid leave status, if the payroll is not sufficient to handle the entire payment, in the event of payroll error where employer fails to withhold the proper amount or during the six (6) month period referred to in subsection (4) of this Section.

(7) Except as provided in subsection (8) of this section, if the purchase is terminated for any reason, the purchase cannot be made at ~~anytime~~ any time in the future, following the 6 month option referred to in Subsection (4) of this Section. By failing to complete this purchase, the member or beneficiary forfeits the right to the purchase at any other time.

(8) If the installment payment for the repayment of a previous withdrawal is terminated for any reason, the member, upon returning to employment and meeting the eligibility requirements for membership, may pay the remaining principal balance at any time prior to the month of the effective retirement date. The total due shall be the unpaid principal balance, plus interest pursuant to 74 O.S. § 917(5), calculated from the date of the last installment payment received and paid in a one-time lump sum amount.

(b) Effective January 1, 2002, in lieu of installment payments, an active member may elect to make the payment of the actuarial purchase price, repayment of a previous withdrawal, purchase of previous non-participating elected service, or to purchase an increase in the contribution rate, or any other eligible purchase or repayment permitted and authorized by the statutes governing the System by use of a direct trustee to trustee transfer from a 457 deferred compensation plan or a 403(b) tax sheltered annuity program.

(c) Effective January 1, 2002, in lieu of installment payments or a direct transfer, an active member may elect to make the payment of the actuarial purchase price, repayment of a previous withdrawal, purchase of previous non-participating elected service, or to purchase an increase in the contribution rate, or any other eligible purchase or repayment permitted and authorized by the statutes governing the System by a rollover. The payment may be made by participant rollover contributions and/or direct rollovers of eligible rollover distributions made after December 31, 2001, from the following:

- (1) a qualified plan described in section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code;
- (2) an annuity contract described in section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code;
- (3) an eligible plan under section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state; or
- (4) a participant rollover contribution from an individual retirement account or annuity described in section 408(a) or 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is eligible to be rolled over.

(d) Any payments permitted and authorized by this section or by the statutes governing the System which are elected by a member in lieu of installment payments shall be made no later than the month prior to the effective retirement date of the member.

590:10-3-10. Incentive credit

(a) Pursuant to 74 O.S. §913(b) certain eligible members of the System may purchase up to two (2) full years of incentive credit at actuarial value. Incentive credit may be used as participating service or addition to age.

(b) Those eligible to purchase incentive credit include the following:

- (1) Employees who are eligible for normal or early retirement because of age or are within two (2) years of reaching normal or early retirement age;

(2) members who have accumulated at least 78 points toward the Rule of 80, and/or members who have accumulated at least 88 points towards the Rule of 90;

~~(3) elected officials who are first elected or appointed prior to November 1, 2011, may purchase incentive credit to qualify for the Rule of 80 only;~~

~~(4) elected officials who are first elected or appointed on or after November 1, 2011, who are eligible for normal or early retirement because of age or are within two (2) years of reaching normal or early retirement age; and~~

~~(5) (4) Hazardous Duty Members may purchase incentive credit to qualify only for the Rule of 80 or 90 or for who are eligible for normal or early retirement because of age or are within two (2) years of reaching normal or early retirement age, or to qualify for the Rule of 80 or 90. Hazardous Duty Members are not eligible to purchase incentive credit to qualify for retirement pursuant to the twenty (20) years of full-time-equivalent employment requirement.~~

(c) Incentive credit ~~can not~~ cannot be used as full time equivalent employment. Members must have at least four (4) years of the required six (6) years of full time equivalent employment in order to be eligible for this purchase and must accrue six (6) years of full time equivalent employment prior to retirement.

(d) Members must be active and participating at the time of purchase or at the time of the transfer pursuant to subsection (f) of this section.

(e) This purchase may be amortized over sixty (60) months as provided for in 590:10-3-9.

(f) Eligible members purchasing incentive credit pursuant to this section may transfer a participating service purchase to an addition to age purchase or an addition to age purchase to a participating service purchase. This transfer applies to purchases already made by an eligible member or to purchases currently being made through installment payments pursuant to 590:10-3-9. Full or partial installment payments made pursuant to this section shall not be refundable under any circumstances. Transferring an incentive purchase to another incentive purchase pursuant to this paragraph may not result in an equal transfer.

590:10-3-14. Elected official service credit

(a) **First elected service on or after August 22, 2008.** Any member of the System before August 22, 2008, who is first elected or appointed on or after August 22, 2008, but prior to November 1, 2011, and who retires as an elected official with at least six (6) years in elected office, may count all of his or her non-elected service which occurred prior to the elected service, if any, as if it were elected service. The applicable contribution rate selected by the elected official shall apply and the calculation of the benefit shall be made in accordance with the provisions of 74 O.S. §913.4. However, in no event shall the retirement benefits be more than one hundred percent (100%) of his or her highest contiguous twelve (12) months of compensation earned as an elected official or as a non-elected member.

(b) **Joining System on or after August 22, 2008.** Any member who first joins the System on or after August 22, 2008, and who is first elected or appointed prior to November 1, 2011, shall have elected and non-elected service separately calculated as follows:

(1) All non-elected credited service will be calculated at the applicable factor multiplied by the member's final average compensation and multiplied by the non-elected years.

- (2) All elected service will be multiplied by the appropriate computation factor corresponding to the contribution rate selected by the member as an elected official. The salary used for the benefit formula for elected service shall be the elected official's single highest annual compensation as an elected official.
- (3) The calculations provided for in paragraphs (1) and (2) of this subsection (b) will then be added together to determine the total benefit for such member. Under no circumstances shall the elected official be entitled to apply the contribution rate and the corresponding computation factor selected pursuant to 74 O.S. §913.4(A) or the compensation received as an elected official to the computation of any non-elected service.
- (4) Fractional year computations made under this section shall be calculated in accordance with 590:10-7-9.
- (c) **Elected service prior to August 22, 2008.** The amendments to 74 O.S. §913.4(C)(3) and (4) in Enrolled Senate Bill 1641 of the 2nd Regular Session of the 51st Legislature (2008), Section 1, Chapter 105, O.S.L. 2008, did not amend or affect the calculation of service credit for any elected official who was a member of this System and who served as an elected official prior to August 22, 2008.
- (d) **Effective date.** The authorizing legislation for determining elected official service credit provided by subsections (a) through (c) of this section is Enrolled Senate Bill 1641 of the 2nd Regular Session of the 51st Legislature (2008), Section 1, Chapter 105, O.S.L. 2008. The emergency clause in SB 1641 failed thereby making the effective date of the legislation ninety (90) days following sine die adjournment, or August 22, 2008.
- (e) **First elected on or after November 1, 2011.** Pursuant to 74 O.S. §913.4(A)(5) and §913.4(B), as amended in Enrolled Senate Bill 794 of the 1st Regular Session of the 53rd Legislature (2011), Section 2, Chapter 206, O.S.L. 2011, any member of the System joining prior to or on or after November 1, 2011, and who is first elected or appointed on or after November 1, 2011, shall have the contribution rate specified in 74 O.S. §919.1(1)(a) and the amount of the benefit for all elected and non-elected service credit shall be based on the provisions of 74 O.S. §915(A)(1), and §915(A)(2) if applicable, including the calculation of final average compensation pursuant to 74 O.S. §902(18).

SUBCHAPTER 7. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

590:10-7-3. Longevity and other annual lump-sum payments

- (a) ~~Only The~~ three (3) highest annual longevity payments will be added into the sum of three years of salary (thirty-six months) used in computing the final average compensation for members whose first participating service occurs before July 1, 2013. The five (5) highest annual longevity payments will be added into the sum of five years of salary (sixty months) used in computing the final average compensation for members whose first participating service occurs on or after July 1, 2013. If a retiring member is scheduled to receive a prorated longevity payment at or near the effective date of retirement, the prorated longevity payments will be used only in the amount actually paid and if it is one of the three highest longevity payments for members whose first participating service occurs before July 1, 2013, or one of the five highest longevity payments for members whose first participating service occurs

on or after July 1, 2013. The final average salary shall not be reduced if the annual longevity payment causes any one month's salary to exceed the maximum monthly compensation level, provided the annual salary including longevity does not exceed the maximum compensation level.

(b) Other lump-sum annual payments that are included as compensation for retirement purposes shall be averaged over the previous twelve (12) months of salary immediately preceding the month of payment for use in computing the final average compensation. These lump-sum payments include those which are paid on an annual basis at the discretion of the employer such as performance or skill based pay adjustments.

590:10-7-6. Failure to submit documents; benefit estimates

(a) If all of a retired member's required documents have not been received by the fifteenth day of the month in which the first ~~two~~ retirement benefit ~~payments are~~ payment is to be issued, the System will withhold payment of any benefit until all required documents have been received. If all the required documents are not received within six (6) months after the requested retirement date, the retirement shall be cancelled and no retroactive benefits shall be paid. In the event the retirement is cancelled pursuant to this section, the member shall be required to reapply for a new retirement date which shall be considered as having met the sixty (60) day notice requirement.

(b) In order to receive a benefit estimate, a member shall provide all the required documents necessary for the System to calculate the benefit estimate. No benefit estimate shall be processed until such documents have been received. The System shall determine which documents are necessary to calculate a benefit estimate.

590:10-7-10. Final benefit

The retirement benefit payable for the month of death of a member, joint annuitant or survivor shall be payable to said member, joint annuitant, or surviving spouse. In the event the final benefit is returned to the System or is not otherwise paid, ~~said the benefit will~~ shall be paid to the member's ~~estate~~ named beneficiary. If there is no named beneficiary or estate, the final monthly benefit payment shall be paid to the first of the following:

- _____ (1) surviving spouse;
- _____ (2) surviving children in equal shares;
- _____ (3) surviving parents in equal shares;
- _____ (4) surviving siblings in equal shares;
- _____ (5) member's estate.

590:10-7-14. Permanent part-time employment

(a) For purposes of this rule, permanent part-time employment is less than full time employment and is defined as employment with a participating employer of the System in a position which is certified by the employer to require, on an on-going basis, less than forty (40) hours of work per week, or 173 hours per calendar month, or 80 hours per bi-weekly payroll period. If a question exists as to whether or not a member's employment is permanent part-time employment, written certification signed by the participating employer or an agent of the

participating employer will be required to qualify a member as a permanent part-time employee for the purpose of computing the member's final average compensation under the provisions of ~~Section 915 C. of Title 74 of the Oklahoma Statutes~~ 74 O.S. §915(D).

(b) The provisions of this rule for the computation of an annualized final average compensation shall not apply to ~~retirants~~ retirees who have returned to work unless they have waived receipt of their benefit and subsequently re-retire with a recomputation of their benefit.

(c) The phrase "last ten (10) years immediately preceding termination or retirement" is defined as the last ten (10) years of participation in the System. Any breaks in participation are not counted as part of the ten (10) years.

(d) Any employee having thirty-six (36) or more months of full-time participation in the last ten (10) years of participation is not considered to be permanent part-time for the purposes of annualization of the final average compensation.

(e) ~~In~~ For members whose first participating service occurs before July 1, 2013, only the salary received during the last ten (10) years of participation in the System shall be considered in the actual calculation of the final average compensation for permanent part-time members, ~~only salary received during the last ten (10) years of participation in the System is considered.~~ Out of these ten (10) years, the System will use the 36 monthly entries of salary at the highest hourly rates received by the member. The gross salaries for each of the 36 months ~~are~~ shall be added together. The number of hours of work reported for each of these 36 months ~~are~~ shall be added together. The total salary will be divided by the total number of hours reported, multiplied by 6,240 hours plus the three (3) highest eligible longevity payments (if any), and divided by three (3) to arrive at the final average compensation.

(f) For members whose first participating service occurs on or after July 1, 2013, only the salary received during the last ten (10) years of participation in the System shall be considered in the actual calculation of the final average compensation for permanent part-time members. Out of these ten (10) years, the System will use the 60 monthly entries of salary at the highest hourly rates received by the member. The gross salaries for each of the 60 months shall be added together. The number of hours of work reported for each of these 60 months shall be added together. The total salary will be divided by the total number of hours reported, multiplied by 10,400 hours plus the five (5) highest eligible longevity payments (if any), and divided by five (5) to arrive at the final average compensation.

SUBCHAPTER 9. SURVIVORS AND BENEFICIARIES

590:10-9-4. Probate waivers

In the event a member dies, leaving no living beneficiary or having designated his Estate as beneficiary, the System may require the judicial appointment of an administrator or executor for the member's estate prior to payment of any benefits or unpaid contributions. This requirement may be waived for payments in an amount of ~~Ten Twenty Five Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00)~~ (\$25,000) or less upon presentation of the member's valid Last Will and Testament, trust documents or affidavit that a will does not exist, an Affidavit of Heirship naming all heirs to the member's estate, a Hold-Harmless Agreement signed by all heirs, a corroborating affidavit from someone other than an heir who is familiar with the deceased member, and proof of payment of all last debts of the member. These documents

shall comply with the provisions of 74 O.S. ~~Section §~~916.1. If there is any question as to the validity of any document herein required, the judicial appointment shall not be waived.